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ORDER FOR .RECOGNlTION OF

SENATORS TOMORROW
Mr. ROBERT C. BYRD. Mr. President,

I ask unanimous consent that on to
morrow, following the remarks of the dis
tinguished senator from South Dakota
(Mr. MCGOVERN) under the order previ
ously entered, the following Senators be
recognized, each for not to exceed 15
minutes, and in the order stated, prior
to the order for the recognition of Mr.
MANSFIELD under the order originally
entered: Mr. BELLMON, Mr. SAXBE, and
Mr. HANSEN.

The VICE PRESIDENT. Without ob
jection, it is so ordered. "

What is the will of the Senate?
Mr. MONDALE. Mr. President, I

would like very briefly to observe that
the pending business is the Legal Serv
ices Corporation Act on which we have
been prepared to vote now for 2 days.

No one in opposition to the bill has
sought the floor.

I would hope either that something
might occur so that we might act, or
that, if we have what I call a filibuster
by amendment, we might invoke clo
ture, pursuant to the motion ftled a few
minutes ago.

Before us is an act to establish an
Independent Legal Services Corporation.
We would like to be assured, so far as
possible, of the availability of legal serv
ices consistent with the Canons of Ethics
for those in t.his country who need those
services. If the law and the Constitution
is applied to them as it is to others in
American society, they will then have
the right to go before the courts of the
land to seek justice.

The measure pending before the Sen
ate is the result of several years of com
promise. It enjoys a broad bipartisan
support. The measure was reported out
of the Labor and Public Welfare Com
mittee unanimously. And, as has been
shown in the record, Mr. Laird of the
White House, has written to us arguing
that the Senate act on this measure.

Mr. JAVITS. Mr. President, will the
Senator yield?

Mr. MONDALE. I yield.
Mr. JAVITS. Mr. President, I am ad

vised that there are 66 amendments in
print by some Senators. There is no
time limitation on the bill.

We have analyzed approximately 20
of those amendments, beginning with
amendment No. 777 and going down to
amendment No. 796 inclusive.

I state these facts for the RECORD, as
I said yesterday, just to indicate that we
are here. We are perfectly willing to de
bate any amendment which any Senator
has to offer.

Again, I wish to repeat the fact that
this has been very thoroughly debated
and discussed since 1971, and even be
fore in terms of the existing program I
think that we have gone a long way in
the Senate to work with the administra
tion in trying to come to a satisfactory
bill, 'Dbserving all rights of those con
cerned.

Mr. President, for the Members of the
Senate who may be interested, I am ad
vised that there is a very interesting
analysis of the concept of a legal services
corporation by the former president of

the American Bar Association. That
analysis was given in testimony before
a subcommittee of the House of Repre
sentativesin hearings held early this
year, in February and March 1973.

I think it might be illuminating to have
the opinion of the then president of the
American Bar Association on the pro-

. posal to establish a corporation. We have
said before that the American Bar Asso
ciation does support passage of the Sen
ate Labor and Public Welfare Commit
tee bill.

I ask unanimous consent that a copy
of a letter to me from the present presi
dent of the American Bar Association,
Mr. Chesterfield Smith, together with
the testimony of the former president of
the American Bar Association, Robert W.
Meserve, which is incorporated in the
record I have, along with certain give
and take on this general subject in the
same record, be printed in the RECORD.

There being no objection, the material
was ordered to be printed in the RECORD,
as follows:

AMERICAN BAR ASSOCIATION,
Washington, D.C., November 12,1973.

Re S. 2686, National Legal Services Corpora
tion.

Hon. JACOB K. JAVITS,
Subcommittee on Employment, Poverty, and

Migratory Labor, New Senate Office
BUilding, Washington, D.C.

DEAR SENATOR JAVITS: On behalf of the
"American Bar Association I commend you for
your leadership in' securing favorable com
mittee action on S. 2686 now before the Sen
ate.

The American Bar Association has long
been interested in the cI'eation of an inde
pendent national legal services corporation
and has on three occasions adopted pollcy
positions in support of this concept. I am
pleased to inform you that S. 2686,.as re
ported, fully complies with the Association's
insistence on assuring the independence of
lawyers for the poor to provide professional
legal services to clients. I urge that the legis_
lation be speedily and favorably acted upon
by the Senate and that any amendments
seeking to restrict the independence of law
yers or the access of their clients to our proc
esses of justice be resisted.

Sincerely,
CHESTERFIELD Sl\UTH.

ESTABLISHMENT OF A LEGAL SERVICES
CORPORATION

This subcommittee is conducting these
hearings for the purpose of and with the
intent to develop a bill that Will continue
to guarantee to the poor good professional
legal assistance.

In view of recent negative expressions and
actions concerning the legal services pro
gram, those of us who support such a pro~

gram feel that it is imperative that we begin
to lay the groundwork necessary to produce
a viable and effective piece of leghllationwlth
the kind of broad cohstituent support Ileeded
to get it through Congress and enacted into
law.

The presence of our opening witness speaks
well of our intent to see that the poor, as
are :he more fortunate, are provided With
the kind of professional legal asshltance as
sociated with the profession and a member
c.f the bar.

Mr. Meserve, it is indeed our honor to
have you appear before this subcomn"littee
in support cf our efforts.

I introduce to the committee and for the
record, Mr. Hobert Meserve, president of the
American Bar Association.

You may proceed as you so desire, :Mr.
Meserve.

STATEME~ OF ROBERT. W, MESERVE,PRESIDENT,
AMERICAN JlAR ASSO<ixATION, ACCOMPANIED BY
JOHN P. TRACEY, ASSOCIATE DIRECTOR, WASH
INGTON· OFFICE,AMERICANBAR ASSOCIATION
Mr. MESERVE. Thank you very much, Mr.

Chairman and members of the subcommittee.
It is with great pleasure that I appear be

fore you today to express the views and pol
icies of the American Bar Association on
legislation to establish a national legal serv
ices corporation.

As you know, the association takes great
and, I think, justitiable pride in the support
and encouragement which it has provided to
the Federal Ciovernment's efforts to bring
to the poor and the equal access to our proc
esses of justice to which we are all com
mitted.

Since 1965, when the new experiment in
democracy known as the Legal Service pro
gram began with the cooperation of the as
sociation and the Federal Government, vir
tually every president of our association has
requested and received an opportunity to
convey to the Congress the association's sup
port for an expanded program of legal serv
ices to the poor and our professional con
cerns regarding the administration and op
eration of the program.

I am exceedingly gratefUl for the opportu
nity you extend to me today to continue this
traclition.

As a background for my testimony and also
t<> define the llmits of my authority. I have
attached to my prepared statement a staff
memorandum Which compiles the official
policy statements of the association on the
issues of concern to this committee.

Two of the resolutions merit Oill' specific
attention at the outset.

In Apr1l1971. the board of governors of the
association gave detailed consideration to the
proposed establishment of a national legal
services corporation.

The board concluded and resolved:
"That the American Bar Association sup

ports, in principle, the creation of a fed
erally funded,nonprofit corporation to ad
minister monies which will be used to fund
programs which will provide a broad range
of legal services to persons unable to afford
the services of an attorney, the charter of
which shall contain assurances that the in
dependence of lawyers involved in the Legai
Services Program to represent clients in a
manner consistent with the professional
mandates shall be maintained."

You will note from that portIon of the 1971
resolution quoted, that the association has
not gone on record in support of or in op
position to any specific bill or prOVision
thereof except insofar as such legislation
would offend the professional obligations and
independence of lawyers employed or other
wise funded by the corporation or its
grantees. .

As president of the association, I appear
before you in a representative capacity and
must observe the limits of my authority.

The second resolution which I would spe
cifically note is that adopted by the house of
delegates of the association on February 12
of this year at its midyear meeting in Cleve
land, Ohio.

In reaffirming the commitment of the as
sociation to the national corporation con
cept, the House resolved as follows:

"The United. States Government should
increase the level of funding of Legal Sen'
ices Programs to enable them to provide ade
quate legal services to eligible clients and to
prevent a serious deterioration of the quality
and quantity of service because of increased
expense and mounting caseloads.

Government at all levels and lawyers from
both the public and private sectors should
take every step nec:essary to insure that legal
services lawyers remain independent from
political pressures in the cause of represent
ing clients.

"The Congress of the United States shollid
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enact a legal service corporation of a design
consistent with the foregoing principles and
the need to maintain full and adequate legal
services for the poor."

I am proud to report to you that not a
siilgle· member of our house of delegates
spoke against the resolution and that it was
adopted on a Virtually unanimous voice vote.

The task which this committee commences
with these hearings on legislation to estab
lisll a national corporation is both critically
important and vitally urgent. I need not
dwell on the obvious fact that continued de
bate without resolution on the important
issues before you will seriously damage the
program and perhaps critically obstruct the
continuation of the legal services movement.
The current status of the program has to be
a matter of great concern to the Congress,
the administration, the bar, and most im
portantly, the poor who have derived so
much benefit from the services Which it has
provided. In February 1971 the Ash Council
on Executive Organization recommended the
corporation structure to the President and
virtually every concerned and informed
constituency agreed, in principle, with that
recommendation. Since that time, the pro
gram, its lawyers, and clients appear to have
the most serious threat to the continuing
availability of legal services to the poor in its
8-year history.

The pendency of the legislation and the
continuing debate over its provisions have
resulted in a rudderless course in national
program administration. Crucial decisions
and policy directives have been postponed be
cause of the continued anticipation that the
new structural autonomy of a corporation
was just around the corner.

As you all undoubtedly know, the pro
gram has been without a permanent direc
tor since February 1972, and the National Ad
visory Committee which has traditionally
been the vehicle for advice arid oversight
by the organized bar was recently disbandecl
by the Office of Economic Opportunity after
not having been convened since April 1971.
The continuation of the program in its cur
rent posture must be viewed as a most serious
crisis by all concerned.

Now I would like to turn to some of the
iUlportant issues which confront you in YOtlr
effort to design the structure of the national
corporation.

The heretofore divisive iss,le of the com
position of the Board of Directors of the Cor
poration is one where my authority from the
assOciation leaves me little opportunity to
provide specific assistance. In considering
tbis issue, the association's board of gover
nors concluded that it was more political
than professional and should be left to the
political process to determine. I am sure that
I speak for the association, however, In ex
preSSing the hope that a majority of the
board be lawyers.

The structure decided upon must offer a
framework through which the lawyers em
ployed by program grantees can serve clients
to the extent of professional obligations
mandated by the code of professional re
sponsibilty of the American Bar Association
and the ethical mandates of the bar in the
jurisdiction wherein the lawyer practices.
Statutorily mandated restrictions which
would in any way interfere with the ethical
obllgations of a lawyer to a client would ser
iously undermine the professionalism of the
legal services effort. Restrictions such as
those advanced in amendments offered by
Senator Murphy in the 90th and 91st Con-·
gresses which sought to prevent legal services
lawyers from instituting suits against Gov
ernment agencies or officials or allowed Gov
ernors of the States to control the scope of
activities of legal services programs would
certainly appear to contravene canon 5 of the
(lOde of professional responsibility which re-

r
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quires that a lawyer exercise independent
professional jUdgment in behalf of a client.
The association vigorously and successfully
opposed such prm'isions in the past and wllJ
certainly oppose them in the future.

The association has also resisted adminIs
trative attempts to regionalize or decentrallze
the a(llninistratlon of the program. VIe be
lieve that the program should be truly na
tional and that the policy direction should
be left to the Board of Directors of the Cor
poration with local policies formulated by
the boards of the local projects within the
framework of the national directives. This,
of course, would seem to argue against a
revenue-sharing approach which, as I under
stand it, would vest State and local om
clals with the funding decisions which, as we
all know, effectively control policy. Funding
decisions should be the prerogative of the na
tional corporation.

While we. insist on pollcymal:ing on a na
tional basis,we would recommend continued
consultation with State and local govern
ment and State and local bar associations.
Our experience indicates that many of the
problems and tensions in the operation of the
Legal Services program have resulted from
failure on the part of program lawyers and
local government and bar associations to
communicate with and underste,nd each
other. On our part, we continually and suc
cessfully urge more interaction between the
programs and bar associations.

As you know, there has been a good deal
of controversy surrounding the operations of
the Legal Services program.· Unfortunately,
the criticism, most of which is unfair and
overgeneral1zed, seems to get more pUblic at
tention than the excellent client service
which the more than 2.300 lawyers currently
employed dellver to their previOUSly unrep
resented clients on a day-to-day basis. We
have all heard the outcry against "law re
form" actiVities of poverty lawyers who, ac
cordingly to the criticisms, neglect the legi
timate needs of clients in order to pursue
their own agenda of social and institutional
reform. A look at the record may help to put
that criticism in better perspective.

'TIle Office of Economic Opportunity has
released statistics that indicate that the pro
gram is currently serving approximately 1
million clients per year. The breakdown of
representation indicates further that approx
imately 42 percent of the matters Involve
domestic relations, 18 percent deal with con_
sumer and job-related problems, 10.5 percent
are housing problems, 9 percent invoive Gov
ernment welfare programs, and 20 percent
are juvenile offenses and other miscellaneous
matters. These statistics would seem to ac
curately reflect. the legal problems experi
enced by the poor and the areas where assist
ance is most needed. Statistics also indicate
that 83 percent of the matters handled by
legal services lawyers are disposed of without
litigation.

.The Callfornia rural le2'al assistance pro
gram has perhaps received more severe crit
icism than any other legal services project.
The intensity of the criticism finally reSUlted
in the appointments by OEO of a prestigious
commission of three State judges chaired by
my fellow New Englander, Robert B. William
son, a distinguished jUrist who formerlv
served as Chief Justice of the Supreme Court
of Maine.

After exhaustively studying the many com
plaints against the program, which covered
of the gamut the criticisms of legal services
programs generally, and conducting pUbJlc
hearings throughout the State, the ConllllIs
sion concluded:

"(T]he operations of CRLA as conducted
presently and within the recent, past are
within applicable OEO standards and appli
cable standards of professional responsibility.
The Commission finds that CRLA has been

dicharging it duty of provide legal assistance
of the Economic Opportunity Act of 1964 in a
highly competent, efficient and exemplary
manner. We therefore recomnlend that Call
fornia Rttr.al Legal Assistance, Inc. be con
tinued and refunded."

[Report of the OEO Commission on CRLA
to the Honorable Frank Carlucci, dated June
25, 1071, paGc 88.1

With regard to the so-called law reform
activities of legal sHvices programs, it is
often overlooked that the mandate from
Congress and a review of the program by the
General Accounting Office specifically recog
nize law reform as a legitimate program
activity.

The report of the Committee on Labor
and Public Welfare of the Senate on the
Economic Opportunity Ame·ndments of 1967
noted:

"Yet the legal services program can scarce
ly keep up with the volume of cases in the
communities where it is active, not to speak
of places waiting for funds to start the pro
gram. The committee conclUdes, therefore,
that more attention should be given to test
cases and law reform."

[So Rept. No. 563, 9th Cong., 1st sess.,
p.40)

In a report on the omce of Economic Op
portunity in 1969, the General Accounting
Office reported to the Congress:

"LSP has improved the plight of the poor
living in areas served by LSP projects by
affording legal representation to the poor
and educp.ting them as tD their legal rights
and responsibilities. However, few LSP proj
ects were engaged in OEO's more far-reach
ing goals of assisting the poor in the forma
tion of self-help groups, such as cooperative
and business ventures (economic develop
ment) and in advocating appropriate re
forms in statutes, regulations, and adminis
trative practices that adversely affect the
poor (law reform) ."

(Review of Economic Opportunity Pro
grams, GAO Rept. No. B-130515, March 18,
1969, p. 129)

Finally, President Nixon in his message to
the Congress transmitting the legislation for
the establishment of a national legal services
corporation stated:

""Vhile it Is important to insulate the
corporate structure so that publiC funds can
be properly channeled into the field, it is
even more important that the lawyers on the
receiving end be able to \lse the money ethi
cally, 'wisely and without unnecessary or en
cumbering restrictions.

"The legal problems of the poor are of
sumcient scope that we should not restrict
the rights of their attorneys to bring any
type of civIl suit. Only in this manner can we
maintain the integrity of the adversary proc
ess and fully protect the attorney-client rela
tionship. so central to our judicial process.
[II. Doc. 92-104, 92d Cong.)"

I can also state that it has been represent
ed to me that that is still the position of
the President.

Thus it appears to me that every com
petent authority which has investigated the
operations of the program has come down
on the side of the project lawyer being un
fettered by statutory restrictions which en
cumber the project's obligations in repre
senting clients in civil matters. I wouid
hope that the legislation process could go
forward without expending valuable t!me
on a rehash of what seems to be settled
issues.

As noted in the preViously quoted asso-
. ciation resolution, we continue to urge a

higher level of appropriations for the na
tional corporation. At the $71.5 million level
requested in the administration's bUdget
for the coming fiscal year, It would appear
that there will· be a further contraction
rather than an ex¥ansl()lll~~rvl~S'.Specifio
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thought might be given to authorizing funds
for the transitional phase of the program to
assure no diminution in services.

In conclusion, the list of accomplishments
of the legal services program in the 8 years
of its operation is most impressive. It has
survived adolescence and attained a maturity
which argues for a national legal services
corporation properly structured so as to as
sure the continued professionalism of the
program which, at the same time, insulates
the projects from political pressures. We must
have the necessary confidence in the legal
profession and the judiciary to assure that
the corporation and its grantees will be con
tinually monitored and measured by the
professional standards applicable to all the
components of our justice system.

We must also recognize that legal services
t<l the poor has become an integral compo
nent of that total system and II:. 1St be con
tinued and hopefully expanded and strength
ened.

Speaking on behalf of the American Bar
Association and as a private lawyer com
mitted to the cause of adequate legal services
for all our citizens, I pledge our continuing
cooperation in your critically important task.

That is the end of my statement, gentle
men and lady.

[The following memorandum was sub·
mitted for the record: I

AMERICAN BAR ASSOCIATION MEMORANDUM

Re: ABA Polley Posltions.-Legal Services.
Date: February 16,1973.

The modern history of ABA support for
prOViding comprehensive legal services to the
poor began with the adoption of a resolution
sponsored jointly by the Comnittee on Legal
Aid and Indigent Defendants and the Com
mittee on Lawyer Referral at 1065 Midyear
Meeting in Miami, Florida. The 1965 ResolU
tion provides:

Whereas, The organized bar has long ac
knowledged Its responsibility to make legal
services avaUable to all who need them, and
this Association has been a leader in dis
charging this responsiblllty: and

Whereas, The organized bar, under the
leadership of the National Legal Aid and De
fender Association and of this Association,
has extended legal services to indigents for
more than three quarters of a century, and
there are now some 247 legal aid offices and
136 volunteer legal aid committees rendering
these services, and

Whereas, The organized bar, under the
leadership of this Association, has also ex
tended legal services to persons of modest or
low incomes for many years through Lawyer
Referral programs, and there are now some
203 Lawyer Referral agencies in operation;
and

Wllereas, Individual lawyers traditionally
have rendered service without charge to those
who cannot pay; and

Whereas, Despite this considerable effort of
individual lawyers and the organized bar over
many decades, it is recognized that the grow
Ing complexities of modern life, Sllifts of
large portions of our population, and en
larged demands for legal services in many
new fields of activity warrant increased con
cern for the unfilled need for legal services,
particularly as to persons of low income, and
that the orcanized bar has an urgent duty
to extend and imrJrove eXisting services and
also to develop more effective means of as
suring that legal services are in fact available
at reasonable cost for all Who need them; and

Whereas, The E~onomlcOpportunity . ct of
1964 provides for cooperative programs with
state and local age"lcles through which vari
ous services, il1cludin~ legal services, may be
rendered to persons of low Incomes who need
advice and assistance; and

Whereas, Freedom and justice have flour
ished only where the practice of law is a pro
fession and where lezal services are per
formed by trained and-independent lawyers;

Now, Therefore, Be It Resolved, That the
American Bar Association reaffirms its deep
concern with the problem of providing legal
services to all who need them and particu
larly to indigents and to persons of low in
come who, without guidance or assistance,
have diffiCUlty in obtsining acceS3 to compe
tent legal services at reasonable cost; and au
thorizes the officers and appropriate sections
and Committees of the Association, includ
ing such additional special committee (if
any) as the Board of Governors may estab
lish, in cooperation With state and local bar
associations and the National L~gal Aid and
Defender Association, to improve existing
methods and to develop more effective meth
ods for meeting the public need for adequate
legal services; and

Further Resolved, That the Association,
through its officers and appropriate commit
tees, shall cooperate with the Office of Eco
nomic Opportunity and other appropriate
groups in the development and implementa
tion of programs for expanding avaUability
of legal services to indigents and persons of
low Income, such prograIns to utilize to the
maximum extent deemed feasible the ex
perience and facilities of the organized bar,
such as legal aid, legal defender, and lawyer
referral, and such legal services to be per
formed by lawyers In accordance with ethical
standards of the legal profession; and

Further Resolved, That the Association's
Committees on Legal Aid and Indigent De
fendants and on Lawyer Referral Service
shall, in the absence of the creation of a spe
cial committee for the purpose, have primary
responsibility for (i) implementing these
resolutions, (Ii) coordinating with the ap
propriate Committees and sections, and (Ui)
reporting back to this House at the annual
meeting in August, 1965.

(Reports of the ABA, 1965, pp. 110-111.)
The above resolution states the basic As

sociation policy on extending legal services
to indigents and persons of low income.

The Board of Governors adopted a resolu
tion specifically opposing the S<l-called
Murphy Amendment in October 1969. That
Board resolution provides:

Whereas, the adoption by the United
States Senate of an amendment to S. 3016
seeks to place in the hands of the governors
of the various states a power of veto over
the activities of legal services prograIns
funded by the Office of Economic Opportun
ity; and

Whereas, such power contravenes the
American Bar Association's commitment to
secure full and effective legal services to the
poor by prOViding every person in our society
with access to the Independent professional
services of a lawyer of integrity and compe
tence; and

Whereas, enlarging the scope and effec
tiveness of the power to veto legal services
programs is highly undesirable because ex
perience has shown that the power to veto
may be used to circumscribe the freedom of
legal service attorneys in representing their
clients to address issues of governmental ac
tion or omission affecting the rights of their
clients, and to discourage actions Which are
politically unpopular or adverse to the views
of the majority; and

Whereas, such limitations Impair the abll
i ty of legal services programs to respond
properly to the needs of the poor and con
stitute oppressive interference with the free
dom of the lawyer and the citizen;

Now, therefore, Be It Resolved, That the
American Bar Association reaffirms its posi
tion that the legal services program should
operate with full assurance of Independence
of lawyers within the program not only to
render services to individual clients but
also in cases which might Involve action
against governmental agencies seeking sig
nificant institutional change; and

Further Resolved, That representatives of

the American Bar Association be authorized
to express the concern of the Association as
to the effect of the aforesaid amendment.

(Reports of the ABA, 1970, pp. 161-162)
The above resolution was widely circulated

to state and local bar associations and to the
Congress. Fifty bar associations responded
with similar resolutions or statements of
opposition.

The Board of Governors adopted a resolU
tion following the Annual Meeting in Dallas
in August 1969 directed at pUblic criticism
of legal services lawyers by public officials.
The August 1969 resolution prOVides:

Whereas, attacks against legal aid and
legal service lawyers and other lawyers threa
ten the rights of clients to have independent
advocates;

Now, Therefore, Be It Resolved, That the
American Bar Association supports and con
tinues to encourage every lawyer in the ex
ercise of his professional responsibility to
represent any client or group of clients In
regard to any cause no matter how unpopu
lar; and

Further Resolved, That the American Bar
Association deplores any action or statement
by any government official who attempts to
discourage or interfere with the operation
or activities of any properly constituted
organization which provides legal services to
the community because the lawyers
associated therewith, or any lawyer acting
in good faith and within the confines of
ethical conduct, zealously represents clients
in matters Involving claims against a gov
ernment entity or indiViduals employed
thereby.

(Reports of the ABA, 1970, p. 162)
A resolution supporting the enactment of

legislation authorizing a federally-funded,
non-profit corporation to provide funding for
legal services programs was adopted by the
Board of Governors in April 1971. This res
olution provides:

Whereas, The American Bar Association In
furtherance of polley positions adopted by
the House of Delegates In February 1965, and
the Board of Governors in August and
October, 1969, has vIgorously supported the
expansion of legal services to those unable
to afford the services of an attorney through
the Legal Services Program of the Office of
Economic Opportunity; and

Whereas, The American Bar Association
has insisted that the Independence and pro
fessional integrity of the lawyers involved
in rendering such service be maintained, with
particular emphasis on protection of the
attorney-client relationship and compliance
with the Code of Professional Responsibility
and Canons of Ethics of the Legal Profession;
and

Whereas, Pronouncements of this Admin
Istration and legislation currently pending
in both Houses of Congress propose the
establishment of a federally-funded, non
profit corporation to assume responsibility of
funding programs which will make a broad
range of legal services available to persons
unable to alford the services of an attorney
which corporation wlll not be an agency or
establishment of the United States Govern
ment; and

·Whereas, The establishment with adequate
safeguards of such non-profit corporation
will tend to further the insistence of the
American Bar Association on the independ
ence and professional integrity of the Legal
Services Program:

Now, Therefore, Be It Resolved, That the
American Bar Association supports, in prin
ciple, the creation of a federally-funded non
profit corporation to administer monies
which will be used to fund programs which
will provide a broad range of legal services
to persons unable to afford the services of
an attorney, the charter of which shall con
tain assurances that the independence of
lawyers involved In the Legal Services Pro-
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gram to represent clients in a manner con
sistent with the professional mandates shall
be maintained; and

Be !t Further Resolved, That representa
tives of the American Bar Association des
Ignated by the President be authorized to
present testimony on behalf of the Associa
tion before the appropriate committees 01
the Congress consistent wtih this resolution.

(Reports of the ABA, 1971, pp. 558-559)
At the Midyear Meeting in Cleveland In

February 1973, the House of Delegates of the
American Bar Association reaffirmed its sup
port of the expansion of legal services ef
forts and establishment of a national legal
services corporation. The resolution adopted
by voice vote provides:

Whereas, There 1s a continuing need for
legal services fo~ the poor; and

Whereas, There are federally funded legal
service programs to meet this need in each
of the states; and

Whereas, The funding for these programs
has not increased since 1970 in spite of the
Increase in demand and operating expenses;
and

Whereas, This Association continues to
support the need for adequate legal services
to the poor and the .need for vital and In
dependent programs to provide this repre
sentation;

Now, Therefore, Be It Resolved:
1. The United States government should

Increase the level of funding of legal serv
ices programs to enable them to provide
adequate legal services to eligible clients
and to prevent a serious deterioration of the
quality and quantity of service because of in
creased expense and mounting caseloads.

2. Government at all levels and lawyers
from both the public and private sectors
should take every step necessary to Insure
that legal servicps remain independent from
political pressnres in the cause of represent
ing clients.

3. The Congress of the United States should
enact a legal service corporation of a design
consistent with the foregoing principles and
the need to maintain full and adequate legal
services for the poor.

In addition to the above resolutions, the
Board of Governors In October 1970, au
thorized President Edward L. Wright to com
municate to OEO Director Donald Rmnsfield
the Association's concern regarding a pro
posal for administrative reorganization of the
Legal Services Program. A copy of that letter
Is attached.

AMERICAN BAR ASSOCIATION,
October 16,1970.

Re legal services program of the Office of Eco-
nomic Opportunity.

Hon. DONALD RUMSFELD,
Office 0/ Economic Opportunity,
Washington, D.O.

DEAR MR. RUMSFELD: You wUl recall that I
wrote to you on OCtober 3, expressing my
concerns regarding the proposal for admin
istrative reorganization of the Legal Services
Program currently under consideration by
the Agency.

The proposed reorganization plan was ex
tensively discussed by the Board of Governors
of the American Bar AssOCiation at its Fall
Meeting in Chicago on October 15 and 16.
The Board has authorized me to inform you
of the Association's reiteration of the rec
ommendations made in the February, 1969
memorandum to the'l Secretary Finch and
to Secretary Romney, especially the follow
ing; "ShOUld an indepe:Ident office in the
Executive Branch not be feasible at this time,
and If an OEO type of agency is to be con
tinued, the existing program could remain
Within that structure, provided it becomes
adnl!nistra.tlvely independent from the exist
ingCommm:.ity Action Program."

Independence of the Legal services Pro
gram from the Community Action Program

and Its establishment as a National Empha
sis program with policy and responsibility
nnnly established at the national level have
been sought since the Inception of the pro
gram. Representatives of the organized bar
have continually championed the need for
such independence before Congress and pro
gram administrators and at the highest level
of this and the previous Administration. A
regreSSion from the Program's status which
you established In your l11storical announce
ment of July 14, 1969, in our opinion, would
be t1Uwlse, unwarranted, and unacceptable
to the legal profession which greeted that
announcement as the culmination of five
years of unswerving effort on a matter of
inlIllense professional and pUblic concern.

This Association Is well represented on the
Subcommittee of the National Advisory
Committee, which Is currently conciderlng
the reorganization proposal In cooperation
with you and other officials of the Agency.
Preliminary reports from those conducting
this study have led the Board of Governors
to conclude that the concerns which have
been expressed by members of the bar and
by members of Congress'are justified.

On behalf of the American Bar Associa
tion and Its Board of Governors, I urge you
to reaffirm t)1e Independent status of the
Legal Services Program at all levels of ad
ministration within the agency.

Slnc.erely,
EDWARD L. WRIGHT.

Mr. HAWKINS. Thank you .for a very ex
cellent and clearcut statement. It is cer
tainly one which I think speaks raUler elo
quently to the SUbject that we have before
this committee.

The Chair is going to yield its time to its
colleague from Washington, Mr. Meeds, who
is the author of one of the legal service bills,
and then recognize the ranking minority
member, Mr. Steiger, who has also authored
one of the bills.

Then we wtil proceed in the order of
the committee.

Mr. Meeds.
Mr. l\,WDS. Thank you very mUCh, Mr.

Chairman.
My commendations to you, Mr. Meserve,

for your statement and my commendations
to the American Bar Association for its long
standing support of what I consider to be the
jewel in the crown of OEO programs, the
program which has really brought full men
tion of constitutional rights to tllose who
llave heretofore been unable to assert the
right of a judiciary, access to the judiciary
because they could not afford It.

Without defining the help and work of the
American Bar Association certalnly this pro
gram would not be what it is.

Mr. MESERVE. Thank you, Congressman.
Mr. MEEDS. I deeply appreciate In your

statement the reiteration of President Nixon's
statements with regard to the Importance of
this program, the Importance of insulating
the corporate structure. '

As he said, "Even more important that the
lawyers on the receiving end be able to use
the money ethically, wisely and without un
necessary or encumbering restrictions."

I would like to address my questions to
you along that line, If I may.

Mr. MESERVE. Surelv.
Mr. MEEDS. What might be some encumber

ing restrictions? In the bill which was pre
sented with this very eloquent statement by
the President, there was a provision that a
board would decide whether appeals could.
betaken.

Would you feel that that would be a
proper restriction on the Individual zealous
pursuit of the attorney's case?

Mr. MESERVE. I would think that If that
board were comprised of lawyers, their advice
OIl the subject surely should be of great as~

sistance to an Individual lawyer who-and

I speak from nlY ovm. e;;pericl~ce-quite fre
quently sees the merits of the case as being
much greater perhaps than they are an(l
qUite frequently does not understand prob
lems of policy which may affect the whole
structure of the program.

Basically, I would think the ultimate de
cision within the limits of funds available
should be on a professional basis for the law
yer. I surely would have no objection to his
getting informed advice.

Mr. MEEDS. But I assume you would have
objection If It went beyond adY-ice, if he were
told which cases he could appeal.

Mr. MESERVE. I think that would be very
dangerous from the point of professional
responsibility. I would not want a commit
tee of my partners to tell me If I could ap
peal a case for a wealthy client.

Mr. MEEDS. As a matter of fact, it would be
a violation of the code of ethics?

Mr. MESERVE. It would be, Congressman.
Mr. MEEDS. What would you advise this

committeD would be the limits of legislative
advocacy?

In other words, in that bill also-and this
is from my recollection because I don't have
It before me-If it prOVided that a lawyer
cotUd appear before a legislative group for
his client only upon the request of the group
or something like that, If that were the
case-and again trusting my recollection and
assuming for the purpose of the question
that that was the case-would that be an
undue restriction In your mind In the role
of the lawyer in pursuing zealously the eause
of his client?

Mr. MESERVE. I think any limitation which
would bar legislative activity on behalf of a
client would violate the code of professional
responsibility, If we talk about a client's
wishes and a client's interest reasonably
adapted to the program.

Limitations on lobbying for causes or is
sues not related to a specific client or group
of clients would not appear to offend the
code if such actiVity were proscribed as a
condition of employment.

Surely political activity of Individual law
yers which seek to promote their own Inter
ests or a particular party or Individual should
not be permitted In the program. I think this
could safely be left to the judgment of the
board of directors of the corporation Which,
as I suggested, should at least eonslst pri
marily of lawyers acquainted with the re
strictions In the code of professional respon
sibility.

Mr. MEEDS. On the floor of the House par
ticularly, we have had a lot of comment that
because the taxpayers support the legal serv
ices rJrogram that somehow the obligation of
the lawyers working for legal services should
be different to their clients than that of you
and your client.

Do you think It shOUld be any different?
Mr. MESERVE. No, sir; I do not. I think the

lawyer-client relationship does not change
just because the Federal Government is pay
ing the fee. There is only one code of pro
fessional responsibility. Its provisions are
equaUy applicable to private lawyers and
legal services lawyers. That Is the way It
should be. If we are seriol1s about prOViding
counsel to the poor, I think we should offer
the same services as we give to our paying
clients.

Mr. MEEDS. Finally, I would like to ask you
a question 'WIth regard to funding.

You stated that you thought funding at
$71 million, which as I understand is pro
posed in the fiscal year 1974 budget of the
President, would be in effect a reduction of
the services under the program.

Would you explain and clarify that?
Mr. MESERVE. I think there are statutory

provisions with regard to increments and
fringe benefits which will mean that while
the actual amount may be the same as last
year, the services might be somewhat re
duced.
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Mr. MESERVE. Indeed I do. I don't see how

with any efficiency the individual lawyers in
the field can do all the types of research
Which these backup centers can do in spe
cific and particular areas. I think it is a great
economic advantage that a backup center
in Massachusetts can tell a lawyer in Colo
rado what is going on in a particular field
not only in Colorado and Massachusetts but
throughout the United states because they
have an actual capacity to correlate and inte
grate resources into these particular prob
lems. I think tIle concept of a central organi
zation responsive to legal and drafting ques
tions in particular areas is an excellent one.
I do think that the backup center program
has worked well from all I have heard. I see
no reason to abolish the concept but I am not
wholly on the inside on that. I think some
kind of backUp center services ought to be
prOVided to counsel in the field or they will
handle a great many less cases than they
are now, which I think is bad for the poor
people.

Jl.1(r. STEIGER. The gentleman from Washing
ton, Mr. Meeds, talked about the concept of a
restriction on appeals. It has also been sug
gested by some that there ought to be re
strictions on test cases.

Would you give me your judgment about
any kind of effort to limit the ab1l1ty of a
legal service attorney to handle a test case
given the limited resources available?

Mr. MESERVE. I think that is a matter of
jUdO'ment to be exercised in rules laid down
in advance by the individual sponsoring orga
nization. I would think that it is possible
that a test-case limitation can be ,imposed,
to some extent, fairly. But on the other hand,
I must say that the test-case concept to me
seems pretty vital to a legal services program,
and economical in the long run. If you can
pick one case as a test case, it may affect
thousands of people in the area and avoid the
necessity for a tremendous amount of du
plicated litigation all raising the same issue.
In the interest of judiCial economy and in the
interest of representing the poor, the selec
tion of test cases and pushing of test cases
is indeed desirable. It may be that the test
cases selected might be so far removed from
the interest of an average poor person that
perhaps they ought not to be brought. But
none have been brought to my attention un
der the present program that have not war
ranted the test-case action. I think of the
property tax case in California which was
litigated under the OEO legal service funded
agency there. It seems to me that that was
a test case and did a very good job in bring
ing to the attention of the court and people
of the United States a very real problem in
taxation.

I don't know how you do that except
through test cases. Therefore, whatever re
strictions might be adopted, I hope they
would meet the needs of the poor to have
test cases brought in such areas.

Mr. STEIGER. One last question which as B
nonlaWyer is asked of me by people: Why
should the average citlzen-or Why should
nonlawyer Bill Steiger-be concerned as to
whetller lawyer Lloyd Meeds is bound by what
the American Bar Association talks about as
the code of professional responsib1l1ty? .

Mr. MESERVE. Without that appllcation of
the code, in my opinion, the judicial system
could not exist. It is that simple, sir. I think
that the need for lawyers in a partiCUlarly
competitive -rofes5ion to be bound by rules
as to what they can and cannot do and to
live within those rules is integral to the
whole system of justice which has developed
in the United States of America. I don't
think it matters whether I am representing
Standard on of New Jersey or a poor man
from the Boston ghetto. It is my duty to
observe the code of professional ethics. Oth
erwise, the whole system falls apart.

Mr. STEIGER. I appreCiate very much what I
think is a very good response to my question

gram were to operate on a 30-day basis. For
example, I don't see how a client could have
any confidence in the continued representa
tion of a lawyer whom he knows may not be
there 30 days hence and there may be no pro
gram there to support him 30 days hence.

I would hope that the people in what I
expect wlll be sort of a caretaker responsibU-

. ity pending your creation of a legal services
corporation wlll see to it that they discharge
their duties as caretakers honestly and effi
ciently and keep the level of legal services
lligh.

I think we have some other problems here,
too. These are grants, these 3D-day funds,
made to other entitles operating in the field
under the supervision of OEO. Many of these
bodies have to make extensive commitments
for the employment of lawyers and others to
administer those programs. They cannot do
that on a 30-day basis. I don't know any
lawyer who has any capacity who will want
to work on a program where he may be let
ting the program terminate Within 30 days.
Moreover, many of these programs at some of
these backUp centers have made contractual
commitments, as I understand it, in reliance
upon a probable extension of the program
which will cause financial loss to the entities
inVOlved, the agenCies which are backing
them up, such as educational institutions
and the like.

I would surely hope that, assuming that
the restrictions on travel and the 30-day
llmltations are Within the power of OEO,
that they would be terminated quite prompt
ly and the program restored to the point
Where, as far as you ean, there is confidence
that the program will continue and the ob
jectives will continue to be met.

Mr. STEIGER. What is the impact of the
decision to end the advisory council?

Mr. MESERVE. Well, I think the prior admin
istrators have found the advisory councll to
be a useful body. It is through that councll
that the American Bar Association, for ex
ample, has had an input in the program and
has been able to offer advice. I believe the
cotmcil if It had to be dissolved, a new one
should be appointed. I think there ought to
be a councl! there and the adminIstrator
ought to be free to call upon it. I would hope
he WOUld. I would hope it would represent
not only the organized bar, the American
Bar Associlltion, but some of the client
groups to whom the office must look in con
nection with its programs. I think a national
advisory council is desirable for either the
corporation or the existing OEO organiza
tion. I would hope that one would be rein
stituted that would have a professional ad
visory input into the situation.

Mr. STEIGER. It has been reported that OEO
has considered terminating funding for back
up centers and prOViding some kind of an
in-house capability for backup services.

Would you give us your thoughts about the
consequences of a development of that kind?

Mr. MESERVE. First of all, I would hope that
any such program if instituted would be
preceded by adequate notice to the entities
which have committed themselves in effect
to provide this type of service and have made
financial commitments inconsistent with
having the service terminated on 15, 20, or 30
days' notice.

Generally speaking, I would feel that these,
more 01' less independent agencies are help
ful to OEO. I would hope that an investiga
tion of them made by the present adminis
tration would convince them that that is so
and that the actual expense of operating
through the independent entity as a backup
center ls probably in the whole less, and the
services better than with an in-house capa
blllty which means employing people by the
Government whereas now people are em
ployed by independent entities.

Mr. STEIGER. You do agree, do you not, that
there is a need for the concept of backup
servIces?

I have also :'elt that the present funding
of the program only permitting the program
going into certain areas, and not experi
menting with other areas. I think the prob
lem of the rural poor ought to be dealt wIth,
too. I am not sure it can be dealt with With
in the present framework of the OEO orga
nization, but I think there ought to be funds
to permit all the poor to benefit by this
program. Therefore, I think the ftmds are
now inadequate and will be in the future
when the normal increments are taken into
account.

Mr. MEEDS. Thank you very much.
Mr. HAWKINS. Mr. Steiger?
Mr. STEIGER. Thank you, J!..Ir. Chairman.
I welcome these hearings as an opportu

nity for Members of Congress, the admin
1stmtlon, and all interested parties to work
together in strengthening the Legal Services
program.

A great deal of justifiable criticism has
been devoted to Federal programs which are
wasteful and inefficient. It is unfortunate,
therefore, that the most stringent attack
upon any Federal agency has been reserved
for one of the Government's most successful
endeavors-the Legal Services program.

Ironically, this opposition has largely been
generated by the very success of Legal Serv
ices attorneys in asserting the rights of the
disadvantaged.

While most Americans have strongly sup
ported the implementation of equal access
to the judicial process, there are some-whose
power rests upon governmental authority or
economic sanction-who are unwilUng to
have their actions subjected to the scrutiny
of an impartial court under the rule of law.

Those who would permit the arbitrary and
capricious disregard of the legitimate rights
of any citizen must not be allowed to prevail.

The Legal Services program has done more
than win cases and establish precedents. It
has served as a constant reminder that in our
democracy, just grievances can be resolved
within the system rather than in the streets.

Yet today the very eXistence of the pro
gram hangs in the balance. To insulate the
program from recurring political attacks,
President Nixon has strongly endorsed the
concept of a nonprofit Legal Services Cor
poration.

The Congress must now act its legislative
wlll, to insure that the Corporation is
trUly independent, professionally adminis
tered, and capable of delivering lligh quality
legal services.

The crisis grows and we must act rapidly.
President Meserve, we know of the deep

commitment of the American Bar Associa
tion to the Legal Services program, and we
are grateful for your personal efforts in this
endeavor.

There is now a 30-day funding limitation
and the imposition of travel restrictions on
field lawyers.

What is the American Bar Association's
pOSition on those matters?

Mr. MESERVE. First, may I explain what I
am sure you wlll understand and that is that
our support goes to the program and not nec
essarily to any particular indiViduals. The
selection of the individuals to operate that
program is basically none of our business so
long as they are people sincerely interested
in operating the program. From this point of
view, we were very sorry to lose Mr. Speaker
and Mr. TetZlaff who had been honest and
able administrators of the program, in our
opinion.

But, I am not against any person who is
there now. This has been explained to me,
partiCUlarly the 30-day funding and the lim
itation on funding as a temporary matter
which would enable the new administrator
to get a handle on what is going on. From
that point of view, I personally would think
that this is a reasonable thing for a limited
period of time. I think it would be terrible
if. over an extended period of time tIle pro-
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and your real commitment, as with the com·
mitment of the American Bar Association.

Thank you.
Mr. HAWKINS. Mrs. Chisholm?
Mrs. CHISHOLM. Thank you.
I have two brief questions.
First of all, in terms of the espousal of

equalitarian principles even in the area of
law, which is still an ideal in this country and
not a reality as yet, does the American Bar
Association feel that any services offered to
the poor by the legal services lawyers should
in no way be different from the services
offered to the middle- and upper-class citi
zens in this country who have the wherewith
al to pay for such services so long as the serv
ices offered by the lawyers ameHorates the
condition of the poor in our society.

I would like to know how the American
Bar Association feels about that ideal kind of
concept which Is not yet implemented.

Mr. MESERVE. I think I have already, If I
may say so, answered your question, Con
gresswoman. I feel that the poor person in
our society ought to get the same kind of
legal representation in every area as the
rich person can get. I think the only way that
can be done is through the legal services pro
gram. I think legal services ought to be able
to ameliorate his condition and to see to it
that the guarantees Of the Constitution of
the United states are available to all citizens
of all classes of economic wealth or lack of It.

Mrs. CHISHOLM. Thank you.
One more brief question.
The Code of Professional Ethics in the field

of law is analogous to the Hippocratic Oath
taken by men in the field of medicine?

Mr. MESERVE. I think the code is much more
extensive and detailed. The Hippocratic Oath,
as I understand it-and, of course, I am not
a doctor-is a generai statement of profes
sional conduct, as I remember it, which is II
very desirable thing. The Code of Legal Ethics
is far more detailed. It deals with many more
situations, even though in many areas it is
expressed in generaHties which must be in
terpreted by the court from time to time. It
is more anaiogous to the differentiation per
haps between the Ten Commandments or the
Sermon on the Mount on one hand or the
Constitution of the United States on the
other.

Mrs. CHISHOLM. Thank you.
Mr. HAWKINS. Mr. Clay has yielded his first

set of questions to the gentleman from
Michigan, Mr. Ford.

Mr. FORD. I would like to go back to this
question of a test case. That is not a legal
term-"test case"- that it a term that gets
taken up at cocktail parties and in coffee
houses and other places where lawyers get
together and they say there is a certain type
of litigation going on and If this is decided it
will set some things in perspective and there
fore it becomes a test case when viewed from
a professional standpoint by lawyers outside
the case.

But as the lawyer or client or individual In
volved in the case, the words "test case"
means nothing, do they?

That case is only important to him as to
how it ends up with respect to his rights,
whether it be criminal or civil. The fact it
wlll set the pattern for something else to
happen is irrelevant; isn't it?

Mr. MESERVE. I would not say it is strictly
irrelevant. I would agree generally with you
that the problem is serving the interests of
an individual client.

Mr. FORD. From a professional point of
view, does the lawyer have any right in
determin1ng how he shOUld proceed with
that client's case at any given time to take
into account whether it will or will not be a
test case that will affect the rights of other
people?

Mr. MESERVE. Yes, I think he does. I think
it affects the rights of that cHent, but I think
it also affects the rights of society generally
and he has a right to take that into
consideration.

My office was hired many years ago--long
before I was II. partner in it-to bring cer
tain litigation on behalf of a corporation
involving the constitutionality of the social
security laws back in the Roosevelt days.

It litigated that question to the Supreme
Court of the United States. I think at all
times we were conscious and our client was
conscious and wanted US to proceed in that
case as counsel representing the individual
whose case was the only case that could
bring the problem before the Court but also
as a test case involving for a multitude of
clients in such a position the constitution
ality of the social security law. That is why
the client wanted the case instituted in the
first place.

Mr. FORD. But you would agree with me
that if parties outside the scope of the inter
est of the people bringing the suit in that
case had decided that from their point of
view this was a test case that they could
not, if this was a legal services case, bring
pressure to stop.

Let us put it as far as a regUlation. What
would be the effect of the lawyer's profes
sional standing If we attempted to impose
on him that once someone identlfies this as
a test case you are thereafter barred from
representing the party in that case because
its nature is now described as a test case
without regard to what the reai issues are.

Mr. MESERVE. If I understand your ques
tion, of course, that could not occur. You
have to consider the interests of the party
and act for him.

Mr. FORD. Then you would agree that any
attempt to characterize cases and put a
restriction on legal services lawyers would be
outside the scope of what is considered in
the Code of Professional conduct?

Mr. MESERVE. Yes. I think the interests of
the individual cUent may include the fact
that the case may affect a lot of other peo
ple. If the client would come to me and say
he wanted to drop the case, I could not say,
"No, you must proceed because it is a test
case."

Mr. FORD. It works both ways?
Mr. MESERVE. Yes.
Mr. FORD. You in your statement make

mention on page 5, "I am sure that I speak
for the association when I express the hope
that the majority of the board •.•"-and
you are speaking of the board of directors of
the corporation-".•. be lawyers."

It has been our understanding that the
various meetings that took place with every
body concerned in this went on for so long
With Mr. Powell, your predecessor repre
senting the American Bar Association, that
really there may be what could amount to
a quasi-contractual relationship.

The fact is that the American Bar Asso
ciation has sUbstantially acted in a number
of ways to substantially carry through an
agreement that they would accept a cor
porate concept which Whenever discussed
from your point of view had carried with it
the thought that not only the national
board but the local boards would have a
majority of lawyers on it.

To many of us it came as a surprise that
anybody would think otherwise because from
its inception the discussion of the corpora
tion has carried that concept.

Is that a fairly accurate description of
where you sit In the bar association?

Mr. MESERVE. I WOuld feel that to run a
legal program it would be entirely desirable
that the majority of people concerned be
lawyers but not exclusively lawyers. I would
also say I am not acquainted enough with.
the history to give you a complete and frank
answer to the remainder of your question ex
cept that I would suppose that any president
of the American Bar Association sitting
where I am sitting would advocate that posi
tion. However, we have resolutely stayed away
from trying to say that so many members of
the board should be appointed upon the

nomination of such and such a person. That
has not been a function which the American
Bar Association as such has carried forward.

Mr. FORD. Last year when we had the legis
lation in conference one issue that held us
up as long as anything else that was nego
tiated with the White House during the
course of that conference was the specific
issue of once you decide there are going to
be lawyers on the board who decide who is
and who is not a lawyer in there was a very
hard position taken by the White House that
the only way they would agree to the ap
pointment system was if the President
would make the appointments directly, com
pletely unfettered by any kind of a recom
mendation from the several bar associations
that had been included, several groups of
professional organizations that had been in
cluded in the legislation as prospective rec
ommenders of members of the board.

It really came down to the point where it
became apparent to us that not even a
simple provision that allowed one of these
professional groups to submit several names
and let the President take anyone he wanted
would satisfy him.

It had to be the privilege of rejecting all
of them and reaching outside in effect. This
caused a number of us to be concerned about
how important that appointing process was.
Where we had not attached a great deal of
impor~ance to the appointing process, while
we would have this fragmented method of
people reaching the board, some coming from
the recommendation of your organization,
and some coming from the recommendations
of another organization.

When you think it is the President, the
Congress, the American Bar Association or
anyone group or person is going to have the
power to make all the appointments for
something that should have a national scope
then it takes on a different dimension.

How do you feel at this point about re
taining the role of these professional organi
zations In recommending the names of people
who should be selected for positions on the
board?

Mr. MESERVE. I would be flattered if such
a role could be continued for the American
Bar Association but I don't know that I have
a right to express any specific position on the
issue of whether or not it should be legislated
by congressional action. I think that is a
poUtical issue which goes beyond my au
thority. I am not trying to duck you. I would
think it would be a happier situation if the
interests of the groups that have a direct
interest in this program could be recognized.
If it came to the point of saying either they
could not be recognized or we would have
no program, I think the program is the im
portant thing. I would hope that anybody
who was appointed would feel his responsi
bll1ty and would recognize the need to govern
the program by the Code of Professional
Ethics and professional responsiblllty, but I
really have no authority to speak to that
POSition, especially in the absence of a bllJ.

Mr. FORD. Recognizing that the American
Bar Association and some State bar associa
tions are similarly organized at the State
levels, we all serve on some committee or
another, or we did, some of us, before we
came here, and put in some extra time be
cause we have a demonstrated interest in
partiCUlar areas of the law.

Is it fair to assume that a recommenda
tion coming from the Aml'rican Bar Associa
tion or similar professional organizations
would be likely to contain the names of
people who had served on such committees
as would concern themselves with poverty
laws, with special problems of prOViding
legal representation to indigents, et cetera?

Mr. MESERVE. I think that would be a
fairly reasonable. assumption to make.

Mr. FOIlD. Isn't the trad1t1on so strong in
this regard that an attempt to go outside
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of some people who have demonstrated In
t.erest and expertise would probably get a
person l1ke. yourself in trouble with the
AmerICan Bar Association?

Mr. :MESERVE. I don't know. One of the
bills suggested that the presIdent of the
American Bar Association, ex officIo, be a
member of the board of the corporation. I
don't know what I can do or what restric
tions there are on my power In that regard.
I have not had anybody come to me and say
I did a wrongful thing In appointing some
body to a committee In which they had
shown no interest before, but I think the
presumption would be that the people we
would nominate would be people who had a
demonstrated Interest In the field and who
had capacIty and character and were well
InfC'rmed In the fledl of professional ethics.

Mr. HAWKINS. There Is a Democratic cau
cus set for 10. Some of the Members Gre a
Httle edgy about wanting to attend.

If you care to stay, I will get back to you
for further questIons.

Mr. BenItez?
Mr. BENITEZ. I just want to commend the

president of the AmerIcan Bar AssocIation
on a very fine statement.

I am happy to see that thIs assocIation
whIch In the past has been Identified With
a more conservative outlook Is joinIng us In
this particular Issue In the tellef that the
human rights of education, health, and legal
services should be extended equally to all
AmerIcans.

Mr. MESERVE. Thank you very mUCh. I
thInk this Is true conservatIsm as well as
true llberallsm. I thInk it worlts both ways.

Mr. HAWKINS. The Chair would llke to an·
nounce that due to the speed with which
we were forced Into movIng with. because
of the strangulation and mass murder of
Legal cervices. we are going to appoInt a
subcommltte~ consIsting of Mrs. Mink and
Mr. Steiger to reconclle any conflictIng vlows
in the blll sponsored by Mr. Meeds and thE'
blll sponsored by Mr. SteIger. The commIttee
will hold one additional publlc hearing at
which others will be invited to present their
vIews.

It is the Intent of the committee to draft
a blll just as rapIdly as POSSible and to pre
sent it to the full committee. We hope to
get a bill on the desk of the President before
the last legal service program has been ex
tinguished. We will move rather fast. I make
thIs as a publlc notice so that no one wlll
be taken by surprise.

h<1r. Ford, if you care to remain to ask some
addItIonal questions, you may.

Mr. FonD. I just thought you ought to know
that there has been floatIng around here
What heretofore has been Intended to be a
secret document called congressIonal strategy
on OEO Which is a coldblooded Madison Ave
nue-type campaIgn to slaughter OEO In a
manner that wlll maximize the efforts with
a minimum of polltical pain to the people re
sponsible for them.

One of the Interesting observations that
you should be made aware of is that In laying
out the specIfic strategy to be followed they
deal with Legal Services by first recognizIng
that this is ene that has some stickers on It
and they better be careful about handling
legal servIces because what they may get
away with where the only constituency inter
ested is poor people they cannot get away
with where there is a professional body of
support.

O:Jvlously. you represent a prIncipal part
of that professional body of support.

Whoever did this is more sophisticated
than I on the makeup of these committees.
One of the tactics Is to steer the legal serv
ices corporation into the judicIal commit
tees.

Later on It says, ... • • steering it Int'l
tho judicIal commIttees has the advantage of
prOViding it a more conservative reception,
one likely to be more sympathetic to the ad-

minIstration point 01 View. It would be easier
to bring it off thlstlme because one. the ad
ministration wants it and two, there is no
EOA legislatIon pendIng to which It can be
attached."

At the time this was written, the com
mittee thans now holding the hearings had
not yet been informed. Reading the rest of
the document it Is apparent that the Inten-

. tlon of at least the person writing this was
that all of these actions would take place
and leave legal services with no place to go
and Congress would be forced with either
the expiration of legal servIces, that there
after some form, I know not Mr. Steiger's
b111, of legal service program would float to
the Congress and go to the judicl:ll commIt
tee and magically we would have a more con
servatIve legal servIces program.

I call this to your attention because I had
110t reallzed that we were dealing with thls
kind of activIty In a conservative-li.beral vein.

Mr. MESERVE. I have not, eIther. I want to
say that I am sure thIs committee wlll deal
with it In a vein which Is neither llberal or
conservatIve and look to the preservation of
the publlc good. That Is our attitude.

In response to the chairman's remarks,
I would llke to say that we are extremely
anxious to cooperate In any way we can with
the operations of this subcommittee In con
siderIng any specific legIslation whIch may
be brought to our attention.

I assure you that I am not acquainted with
that document to which you refer and ob
viously had no part In It.

Mr. FORD. Thank you.
Mr. STEIGER. One further question: There

has been some speculation that the OEO ad
ministrators might consider turning the legal
services program over to the American Bar
Association.

Has that been raised with the ABA?
Do you have any comment?
Mr. MESERVE. That has not only been raised

With the ABA, but on first Impression raises
my hackles. I don't Imagine the ABA can run
a government operation as the OEO. As far
as I can now consider it, It seems to me to
be a very unwis~ suggestion. I don't think
the ABA is constituted to run a program as
administrators. I think that this ought to
be apart from any existing organIzatIon.

I surely hope the ABA would have an Input
but we are not trying to bulld an empire.
I assure you.

Mr. STEIGER. Thank you.
Mr. HAWKINS. Again, Mr. Meserve, you have

shown the hIgh level of professional Integrity
of the assocIation In presenting your Views
to this committee. We thank you.

Mr. MONDALE. Mr. President, I nor
mally do not object or disagree with
what the Senator from New York says.
However. I wish to point out that there
are not 66 amendments. There are 72.

Mr. JAVITS. Mr. President, I thank
the Senator from Minnesota for his cor
rection. I am very pleased to stand cor
rected.

Mr. HELMS. Mr. President. I ask
unanimous consent that during the con
sideration of this bill, my legislative as
sistant, Mr. James P. Lucier. be per
mitted the privilege of the fioor.

The VICE PRESIDENT. Without ob
jection, it is so ordered.

Mr. HELMS. Mr. President, I would
like to direct a question to the Senator
from New York. Would the Senator from
New York advise the Senator from North
Carolina approximately on what days
public hearings were held on the bill this
year?

Mr. JAVITS. Mr. President, the Sen
ator from New York advises the Senator
from North Carolina that no hearings

were held this year on· this .particular
measure.

If the Senator desires it, I could give
him, on his time or on my own time, the
days of the hearings dealing with meas
ures which were comparable to this one.

Mr. HELMS. That was prior to my
arrival in the Senate. Does the Senator
h:we 1111Y information as to whether
either the distinguished Senator from
Tennessee (Mr. BROCK) or the Senator
from North Carolina was invited to the
closed executive session of the subcom
mittee and committee at which time this
measure was drafted and finally
approved?

Mr. JAVITS. :Mr. President. I did not
hear the question.

Mr. HELMS. Mr. President, the point
that the Senator from North Carolina
would make is that the Senator from
Tennessee (Mr. BROCK) and the Sena
tor from North Carolina introduced in
good faith a measure which we think
to be superior to the one now pending
before the Senate. We were given short
shrift on this. Insofar as we know. speak
ing only for the Senator from North Car
olina, we were not even given the cour
tesy of an invitation or consultation. No
discussions were afforded our proposal
whm it was known that we had intro
duced legislation on this topic.

I wonder how it is that. if the Labor
Committee bill is such a magnificent
piece of legislation as has so often been
said on the fioor of the Senate, that it
has not been considered by the Judiciary
Committee.

Mr. JAVITS. Mr. President. I may re
spond to the Senator that as I under
stand it the bill to which he refers was
actually referred to the Judiciary Com
mittee. And as far as we are concerned
in respect of this measure. as it was an
element. and has been continuously, of
the so-called anti-poverty program and
also the Office of Economic Opportunity,
it went to our committee.

Any other committee could at any time
have sought to assert jurisdiction and
could have brought the matter to the
floor if it had desired to do so.· Appar
ently there was no desire to do so.

I would appreciate it if the Senator
woul1 advise me if he or any of his col
leagues requested a hearing from the
Committee on Labor and Public Welfare
to which the bill was not referred. as I
am not personally awan of any.

Mr. HELMS. Mr. President, what was
the question of the Senator?

Mr. JAVITS. Mr. President, I wOl}der
in what form. at what time, and under
what circumstances. if at all, the authors
of the bill which was referred to the
Judiciary Committee sought a hearing
before the Committee on Labor and Pub
lic Welfare. I would be very much inter
ested in getting that information.

Mr. HELMS. Mr. President. I '''ill en
deavor to furnish the Senator a copy of
a letter written by the Senator from
North Carolina in this connection on
tomorrow. I do not have the letter with
me on the floor at the moment. I did not
anticipate that there would be this dis
cussion.

Let me ask the Senator from New York
this question: Would the Senator from
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New York have any objection to this
bill being considered by the JUdiciary
Committee?

Mr. JAVITS. Mr. President, at this
stage, I would feel that the matter has
been very thoroughly considered and
that every committee that had any
interest has had a full opportunity to
dig into the matter.

The rules of procedure in the Senate
protect the right of everyone. A motion
could have been made to send this bill
to the Judiciary Committee if that were
the disposition of any Senator. A com
plete substitute could have been offered
for the whole bill. Amendments can be
offered to any part of a bill.

I do not see that anyone's rights have
been invaded if a majority of the Senate
is with what is considered to be the right
course to take, including, by the way, a
motion to table the bill. The Senate has
tabled bills. And it is a very legitimate
motion.

Mr. HELMS. Mr. President, the Sena
tor from North Carolina would in no
way imply that there has been any viola
tion of the rules.

I reiterate my question, Mr. Presi
dent, directed to the distinguished Sena
tor from New York: Would he have any
objection to this bill being considered
by the Committee on the Judiciary?
Would he personally object to the ex
amination of the bill by the Judiciary
Committee?

Mr. JAVITS. The Senator from New
York believes there has been a very ex
tensive public examination of this bill.
The Senator from New York, if faced
with that issue, would hope to consult
with the other Senators who submitted
the measure with him-Senators NEL
SON, TAFT, SCHWEIKER, and BEALL-at
the very least, in order to ascertain what
would be their attitude.

If the composite opinion was that this
matter had been thoroughly enough ex
amined, and that every committee that
had any jUl'isdiction or thought it had
jUl'isdiction had had an absolute access
to the method by which that jurisdic
tion could be asserted, and failed to do
so, and if the Senator were chosen by
the group as the one to make the ob
jection, he would make it. But I would
not wish to do it on my own. On the
other hand, if I were on the floor on my
own, and the Senator should ask unani
mous consent to refer this measure to
the Committee on the JUdiciary, I would
object in order to preserve the oppor
tunity for the consultation which I have
described.

Mr. HELMS. But only for that reason?
Mr. JAVITS. Certainly only for that

reason. But that is no implication as to
my own attitUde. I have already stated
my attitUde: I believe the matter has
been very thoroughly considered, and is
ready for action.

Mr. MONDALE. Mr. President, will
the Senator yield? As the Senator from
New York knows--

Mr. JAVITS. I might say that the
Senator from North Carolina has the
floor.

Mr. MONDALE. Will the Senator from
North Carolina yield?

Mr. HELMS. Let me finish this line
of questioning, if I may.

I still do not fully understand the posi
tion of the distinguished Senator from
New York, and I am sure he will forgive
me for not being able to hack through
the ~'erbiage to which I acknowledge
that I have contributed.

Does the Senator feel that this bill
would pass the muster of the Committee
on the Judiciary?

Mr. JAVITS. I have no idea. I just
would be guessing. I really do not know.

Mr. HELMS. Would not the Senator
be willing to resolve any doubt about it,
since there is considerable doubt about
this measure, certainly on my part and
on the part of others? Would not the
Senator feel that inasmuch as there have
been no hearings this year, and there are
several freshman Senators who have
come to this body as of last January-I
know the Senator does not want those
of us who are new in the Senate to feel
that we have been shut out. We were
given no opportunity to sit in on the
construction of this measure. I am per
fectly willing to take the Senator's word
about his own judgment as to the worthi
ness of this bill. I know he is sincere. It
may be that he is sincerely wrong; I will
not pass judgment on that. But I still say
that this is unusual procedUl'e, for the
Senate to deny an opportunity, at the
time of the drafting of a bill, to provide
input. That is what the Senator from
North Carolina takes exception to.

Mr. JAVITS. Mr. President, I have no
desire to instruct my colleague in the
way in which legislation is handled in
the Senate, but I know of no situation-

Mr. HELMS. My distinguished col
league does not need to.

Mr. JAVITS. I know of no situation in
which, if Senators feel they would like
to appear before a coinmittee, testify be
fore a committee, and present whatever
ideas they may have to a committee, in
cluding my Committee on Labor and
Public Welfare, that they would be de
nied that right, or have been denied
that right. I would like to know about
that, if the Senator claims that in this
case. But to backtrack through the whole
process by which legislation comes to
the floor, especially when no rights what
ever have been lost-the Senator has
every right to propose anything he
wishes on this bill. Any committee has
the right to move to send this bill to that
committee. No one's rights have been
shut off at all.

Mr. HELMS. That is true. I would say
to the Senator, that is precisely why
there are--how many amendments, 76?

Mr.JAVITS.Seventy-odd.
Mr. HELMS. Seventy-odd amend

ments. We are trying to bring to this
bill a state of perfection which we think
does not exist at this time. And yet what
did I just hear from our distingnuished
colleague from Minnesota? That we
are filibustering by amendment. That is
simply not so, Mr. President. We are ex
ercising a legitimate process, the only
process left to us.

The Senator's point would be abso
lutely valid if there had been public
hearings on this bill. But there were not.

And I frankly wonder why there were
not pUblic hearings.

Mr. JAVITS. May I point out to my
colleague that in the last two Congresses,
hearings were held on the legal services
program.

Mr. HELMS. But I was not here.
Mr. JAVITS. I understand, sir. But you

were not here when lots of laws became
law that you are subject to, just as I am.
We have spent billions and billions of
dollars of public money while the Sena
tor was not here. We engaged in wars.
Before I was here, too. You simply can
not reverse the tide of history.

Mr. HELMS. I believe the Senator is
straying from the SUbject, but do not let
me interrupt him.

Mr. JAVITS. I think I would rather
let the Senator speak than I. I think I
have answered the question. The fact
that the Senator was not here, it seems
to me, is not directly relevant to the sit
uation, as he has lost no rights of any
kind.

Mr. HELMS. I hope my distinguished
colleague will not misunderstand me, be
cause I am sure he knows the affection
in which I hold him.

Mr. JAVITS. It is reciprocated.
Mr. HELMS. But could the Senator tell

me why this was done in executive ses
sion?

Mr. JAVITS. As far as I know, this bill
was not marked up in executive session.
But even if it was, the important point
here was that we had discussed and con
sidered this bill for over 2 years, and that
fare has had jurisdiction over anti
we had had a bill vetoed which had much
of this in it.

Finally we got to the point where the
administration wanted the bill out, and
we moved it. This was something which,
as I say, was one of those almost classic
examples of trying to get together with
the administration on a bill, at least with
respect to passing his bill in the Senate.

But again, whether the administration
liked the bill or not-and apparently the
administration certainly is willing to see
this one at least go to conference--it
does not cut off any Member's rights. The
Senator has every right to push any
amendment he wishes. Even cloture will
not cut him off. He has a number of col
leagues. The colleagues together have
time in which to debate every amend
ment within the time which the rule
gives them, and if there are enougll
Senators who are enlisted in the fight,
they can handle 67 amendments. Every
Senator has an hoUl'. We have found be
fore that even the administration of the
cloture rule could take as much as a week,
if Senators wished to use their time and
if there is adequate support for the effort
to amend the bill.

But in view of the fact that we are at
the end of the session, that this is a meas
ure which has, at long last, come into
some kind of balance where it can be-

. come law, and the fact that it has been
discussed and considered and looked into
by most eminent authorities-I have
just inserted in the RECORD the statement
of the former President of the American
Bar Association, regarding the necessity
for such legislation and my own bar asso
ciation in New York and many others in
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the country have passed on the matter
it is late, and my friends feel that the
time has come to act.

Mr. HELMS. I would simply also-
Mr. CRANSTON. Mr. President, will

the Senator yield?
Mr. HELMS. Just 1 more minute, and

then I shall be through, and you gentle-.
men can have it.

There was just one question remaining
in my mind. I keep hearing about the
American Bar Association. As far as I
know, the American Bar Association was
not elected to I he United States Senate.
The Senator from New York was, the
Senator from California was, and the
Senator from North Carolina was, but the
role of the American Bar Association is
purely advisory as far as I am concerned.

They may be right upon occasion, and
they may be wrong upon occasion. But
if they are so interested in this legis
lation, why did it not go to the Commit
tee on the Judiciary? Why was it sent to
the Labor and Public Welfare Commit
tee where it was acted upon?

Mr. JAVITS. I hope the Senator will
forgive me if I-I think I have almost
exhausted the subject, but I have the
greatest respect for the Senator and, if
he wishes, I will answer the question.

The Economic Opportunity Act, the
so-called antipoverty program, has been
in the constant jurisdiction of the Com
mittee on Labor and Public Welfare
from the beginning. This goes back al
most a decade. One of the elements of
the Economic Opportunity Act is the
legal services program. Hence, when the
matter involved amendments with re
spect to the extension of the Economi.c
opportunity Act of 1964, the amend
ments have invariably been referred to
the Committee on Labor and Public Wel
fare. That is the reason for this measure
and the reason why the committee re
ported the bill,

I repeat, had any other committee
sought to assert jurisdiction over the
measure, the methodologies of the Sen
ate which are practiced, the procedure
would have permitted that committee to
seek to have it referred. But that did hot
happen in this case.

That is the best information I can give
the Senator.

Mr. HELMS. I thank the Senator from
New York and, let me say, I have e11joyed
the discussion.

Mr. JAVITS. I thank my colleague.
Mr. CRANSTON. Mr. President, first,

it is a great pleasure for me to have been
recognized by the Vice President of the
United States. It is the first time it has
happened in my experience in the Sen
ate. When I was brand new here, I felt
that I should not speak during the brief
time the Senator from Minnesota (Mr.
HUMPHREY) was in the chair as Vice
President. Then, his successor was never
here except wh~n close votes were ex
pected, so. I never had the opportunity
to seek recognition when he was in the
chair. Consequently, it is indeed a great

pleasure to be recognized by a real gen
uine Vice President of the United States.

Mr. President, ! should like to say on
the matter of the JUdiciary Committee
and its relationship to a role on the
legal services bill, as th~ Senator from
New York has [aie, since passage of the
Economic Opportunity Act in 1964; the
Committee on Labor and Public Wel
fare has had jurisdiction over anti
poverty programs, inclUding the legal
services program. The Judiciary Com
mittee has never had jurisdiction.

A recommital motion was made last
year, when legal services corporation
legislation was on the fioor, to refer the
bill to the Committee on the JUdiciary
and it was defeated by an overwhelm
ing vote.

The chairman of the subcommittee
that would be most likely to have juris
diction, if this matter were to be referred
to that committee is my colleague from
Californi:t Mr. TUNNEY. He is chairman
of the Subcommittee on Representation
of Citizen Interests. I have discussed
this with him, and he has made it plain
that he does not wish this matter re
ferred to that committee and, hence, to
hi!; subcommittee. It is well recognized
that the Committee on Labor and Pub
lic Welfare has this jUrisdiction.

It so happens that my colleague from
California wrote a letter to the Sena
tor from North Carolina (Mr. HELMS)
in response to r:. query from him about
the Judiciary Committee and its possible
interest in this measure. Mr. TUNNEY
there is no desire by that committee to
indicated in his letter of July 6 that
have that matter before it. He did state:

The subcommittee shall review carefully
all existing Federal legal services programs
to determine whether or not they are ade
quately serving the needs of the poor.

The committee report on S. 2686
states:

The bill reported by the Committee on
Labor and Pliblle Welfare represents a bi
partisan effort, based upon the bUl sub
mitted to Congress by President Nixon on
May 15, 1973.

A majority of this body, a majority
on tIns side of the aisle, a majority on
that side of the aisle, and the adminis
tration, do not want this measure re
committed. They want it passed.

All 16 members of the Labor and Pub
lic Welfare Committee, Mr. President,
support the bill and want it speedily
passed. . .. _

I had hoped again that tonight we
would have the opportunity to discuss
this bill on its merits, the arguments
for it, and the arguments, if any, against
it, but again there is no desire, ap
parently, by those seeking to obstruct it,
to speale on it.

I note that no one is in the Cham
ber right now to speak against the meas
ure. Obviously, we have simply run into
a filibuster, so we have taken the route
normally available and often taken

when the Senate faces afllibuster,· and
the majority and minority leaders have
filed a cloture motion. . .

Mr. President, I yield the floor.

QUORUM CALL
:Mr. STAFFORD. Mr. President, I sug

gest the absence of a quorum.
The VICE PRESIDENT. The clerk will

call the roll.
The second assista:nt legislative clerk

proceeded to call the roll.
Mr. CRANSTON. Mr. President, I ask

unanimous consent that the order for the
quorum call be rescinded.

The VICE PRESIDENT. Without ob
jection, it is so ordered.

PROGRAM
Mr. ROBERT C. BYRD. Mr. President,

tomorrow the Senate \'liill convene at
9:·15 a.m.

After the two leaders or their designees
have been recognized under the standing
order, the following Senators will be rec
ognized, each for not to exceed 15 min
utes and in the order stated: MCGOVERN,
BELLMON, SAXBE. HANSEN; after which
the following Senators will be recognized.
each for not to exceed 10 minutes, and in
order stated: MANSFIELD and GRIFFIN.

At the conclusion of the aforemen
tioned orders, the Senate will proceed to
the consideration of routine morning
business for not to exceed 15 minutes,
with statements limited therein to 3
minutes; at the conclusion of which, un
der the order preViously entered, the Sen
ate will proceed to the consideration of
the Special Prosecutor bill.

On tomorrow there will beyea-and
nay votes on motions, amendments, and
final passage, hopefully, of the supple
mental appropriations bill.

I yield the fioor, Mr. President.

ADJOURNMENT TO 9:45 A.M.
Mr. CRANSTON. Mr. President, if

there be no further business to come be
fore the Senate, I mov:::, in accordance
with the previous order, that the Senate
stand in adjournment Imtil 9:45 a.m.
tomorrow.

The motion was agreed to; and, at 8:05
p.m., the Senate adjoumed until tomor
row, Wednesday, December 12, 1973, at
9:45 a.m.

NOM:G~ATIONS

Executive nominations received by the
Senate December 11, 1973:

NATIONAL LIBRARY OF :MEDICINE

The following-named personc to be Mem
bers of tbe. Board of Regents, National LI
brary of Medicine, Public Health Service, for
a term of 4 years from August 3, 1973:

Joseph Francis Volker, of Alabama, vice
Jack Malcolm Layton, term expired.

John "Vllllam Kauffman, of New Jersey, vice
William O. Balter, term expired.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES-Tuesday, DecembeJ'11, 1973
The House met at 10 o'clock a.m.
The Chaplain, Rev. Edward G. Latch,

D.D., offered the following prayer:

The Lord 10ill give grace and glory; no
good thing will He withhold from them
that walk uprightly.-Psalms 84: 11.

o Lord, our God, unto whom all hearts
are open, all desires known and from
whom no secrets are hid, bless us with


